CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons and entities have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Judges of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

1. George Bozier, Appellant.
2. Richard Schilling, Appellee/Cross-Appellant.
3. SW Gaming, LLC, Appellee/Cross-Appellant.
4. Libra Securities, investor in SW Gaming, LLC.
5. C.W. Walker III, Andrew N. Alexander III, April D. Robertson, and Susan N. O'Neal with Lake Tindall, LLP, attorneys for Appellant.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the court erred in *sua sponte* utilizing the doctrine of impossibility of performance to excuse the defendants' breach of contract since impossibility, which is an affirmative defense, was not pled, was not an issue at trial, was not tried by consent of the parties, was supported by no evidence, and was expressly contrary to another Mississippi court's ruling on that factual issue.

2. Whether the court erred in finding that Bozier was responsible for finding additional investors before he was entitled to his ten percent undiluted interest in the venture when there is no testimony to support this finding.

3. Whether the trial court erred in finding that Schilling and SW Gaming were not guilty of fraud or bad faith breach of contract when Schilling, by his own testimony, admitted that he never intended to perform the contract which the court found he voluntarily entered into.

4. In the event that this Court finds that the trial court did not err in applying the doctrine of impossibility, then in that event, whether the trial court erred in limiting Bozier's recovery for unjust enrichment or *quantum meruit* to the last twenty-nine weeks of Bozier's services when the uncontradicted evidence clearly shows Bozier worked, without pay, for the defendants' benefit for several years prior to that on this project.

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND
COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION BELOW**

The plaintiff, George Bozier, a long-time resident of Greenville, Mississippi, and a former casino manager of one of the Greenville casinos, undertook in the spring of 2002, to locate and develop a third casino in Greenville, Mississippi. After much time searching, he discovered a favorable location at the Greenville Bridge, negotiated favorable lease terms that could be presented to potential investors, and thereafter began seeking investors for this casino project. Eventually he struck a deal with Richard Schilling, a former owner of the Splash Casino in Tunica, whereby the two verbally agreed that Schilling would undertake to establish a casino at this location and that Bozier would present this opportunity to him exclusively. In exchange, Bozier would receive a ten percent equity interest, a job as the general manager at a salary of \$200,000.00 per year, and would be paid \$100,000.00 per year until the Casino opened.

As the project progressed it increased in scope in size from a \$20 million project to a \$60 million project. This casino is now in place in Greenville, Mississippi, and is known as Harlow's Casino and Resort.

After Bozier had given the project to Schilling, negotiated the lease on Schilling's behalf, and worked at Schilling's request, without pay, for over two and one-half years after their initial agreement, Schilling and SW Gaming refused to abide by the terms of their agreement with Bozier and gave him nothing.

Bozier brought this suit in the Chancery Court of Washington County, Mississippi, wherein he sued for breach of oral contract, fraud, unjust enrichment or *quantum meruit* and the imposition of a constructive trust.

Following the trial of this matter and extensive post-trial proposed findings of fact and proposed conclusions of law, the trial court rendered an opinion finding that an oral contract had in fact been established and that Schilling had agreed to the terms that Bozier had proposed. However, the court found that Schilling's breach of the contract was excused due to the doctrine of impossibility of performance. This was a doctrine that was neither pled as an affirmative defense by the defendants nor tried by consent of the parties. In fact it was not even addressed by either party in the post-trial submissions. Instead, this issue was raised *sua sponte* by the court and Bozier was denied his damages under the contract. The trial court did award Bozier damages for unjust enrichment or *quantum meruit* at the sum of \$10,000.00 per week (the rate charged by Bozier when he did consultant work). However, even though Bozier worked on this matter for approximately three and one-half years (one year prior to the involvement of Schilling and two and one-half years subsequent thereto) the court only allowed compensation during the last twenty-nine weeks (from June of 2005 to December of 2005) of his association with the project prior to his filing suit. Thereafter, this appeal was timely filed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This suit revolves around a business venture, begun in 2002, by Plaintiff George Bozier to establish a casino; this casino is now known as Harlow's Casino, and was estimated at the time of trial to be worth as much as \$85 million to \$100 million. (V. 7 p. 260; R.E. p. 27) It is located at the Greenville, Mississippi, Bridge adjacent to Highway 82.

Bozier has been working in the casino business in many parts of the world since 1960. (V. 5 p. 542; R.E. p. 3) In 1992, he came to work in Mississippi and began work at Splash Casino, the first casino in Tunica County. (V. 5 p. 542; R.E. p. 3) This is where he first had an opportunity to meet and to work with defendant Richard Schilling, who was one of the primary owners of that casino. (V. 6 p. 29; R.E. p. 28) Bozier later moved to Greenville in 1994 to work for the Las Vegas Casino which had just opened. (V. 5 p. 542; R.E. p. 3)

Eventually, he became the general manager at the Jubilee Casino, also in Greenville. (V. 5 p. 542; R.E. p. 3) In November of 2001, Bozier learned that the Jubilee Casino was being sold and realized that, as a result, he would be out of a job. (V. 5 p. 542; R.E. p. 3) Since he and his family enjoyed living in Greenville, he undertook to find another location for a third casino. (V. 8 p. 326; R.E. p. 29) He began investigating sites in and about the Greenville area in December of 2001 into February of 2002. (V. 5 p. 542; R.E. p. 3) Eventually, according to the overwhelming weight of the evidence, Bozier decided upon a location which was owned by Refuge Hunting Club at the Greenville Bridge. (V. 6 pp. 32, 38; R.E. p. 30, 31) As Bozier himself was not wealthy, he began contacting potential investors for this project.

(V. 6 p. 34; R.E. p. 32) One of the individuals he contacted was Richard Schilling. Bozier sent Schilling a letter and a packet of information similar to one identified as Exhibit 1 which was sent to another potential investor, Tom Arrow.¹ (V. 6 pp. 45-46; R.E. pp. 33, 34) At that time, Schilling was not interested in participating in the project. (V. 6 p. 73; R.E. p. 35)

Throughout 2002, Bozier worked with the land owners to try and work out an agreement with them whereby he could present, as a package, a lease agreement to a potential investor so that the business venture to establish a casino could go forward. (V. 6 p. 37; R.E. p. 36) In April of 2003, Bozier received word that Schilling had changed his mind and might now be interested in starting a new casino. (V. 6 p. 40; R.E. p. 37) He again contacted Schilling to see if he would be interested in the Greenville project. (V. 6 p. 40; R.E. p. 37) Schilling indicated at that time that he would be interested because he had two barges – the former Splash facility – which were costing him a significant amount of money in moorage expenses. (V. 5 p. 542; R.E. p. 3) Schilling came to Greenville, visited the site with Bozier, and then the two of them met at Bozier's house. At that time, they negotiated the terms of the joint venture to establish a casino at the Greenville Bridge. (V. 5 p. 543; R.E. p. 4) The terms of the deal were as follows:

Schilling, as the "money man," would naturally have the lion's share of the ownership of the casino company. Bozier would give the opportunity to Schilling and Schilling would have the benefit of Bozier's work product over the previous year. Bozier

¹ Because of his computer failures, Bozier was unable to locate the particular packet that he sent to Schilling in early April of 2003. (V. 6 p. 46; R.E. at 34.; Exhibit 1) A review of Schilling's telephone records show, however, that Bozier did in fact call him in February of 2002. (Exhibit 3; V. 6 p. 34; R.E. p.p. 32, 38-41)

would work with Schilling as the local contact to help get the operation up and running. In that respect he would do whatever Schilling asked him to do. (V. 6 pp. 63-68; 74; R.E. pp. 42-48)

Bozier then testified as to what his end of the deal was to be as follows:

Q. Okay, now here's what I want you to do. I want you to tell the court what you told him you wanted out of the deal.

A. I told him first of all that I wanted ten percent of the stock of this company. I specifically told him that I wanted it fully diluted and without cash call. I was very, very, very clear about that because I've never had any stock ownership before, but I've heard horror stories within our business of people that got diluted.

Q. Now, let me go ahead ...

A. Then I told him I expected to be the chief operating officer of the company in Greenville, whatever that position, whatever name you want to put on that position. The salary for that would be \$200,000.00 a year which is an industry standard. It's, you know, it's a sensible number. I said, you know, there is always a bonus thing with this, but we didn't get into the bonus. I said, you know, we usually have EBIDTA bonuses, but we can talk about that later. And then I said I recognize the fact that we will not have a cash flow until we get this thing open and so I will be prepared to do the work that will be required of doing this – of putting this deal together – on half salary until it opens, which is something I've done before. Well, not half, but a bit more.

Q. And what was his response? What was Mr. Schilling's response when you said that's what you wanted out of this deal?

A. He said okay, that's good.

Q. Were there any qualifications that he put on it at all?

A. None.

Q. All right, at that point in time, at that very moment, what did you feel about whether or not you had a deal with Mr. Schilling?

A. It was a done deal as far as I'm concerned. That's the way I'm used to doing business. If somebody says that's it, that's it. If I make a commitment, same thing.

(V. 6 p. 42; R.E. at 49) Bozier's testimony with respect to the specific terms of the deal and with respect to the absence of any conditions placed upon the deal is uncontradicted except for Schilling, whose testimony the court found not to be credible, who testified that they never had any deal at all.

Since the two were good friends, ² Bozier felt comfortable accepting Schilling's word, and a deal was struck. (V. 6 p. 44-45; R.E. p. 50-51) After Schilling left Bozier's house that day, Bozier, jubilant at finally having struck a deal in which he had an ownership interest in a casino, confided in his wife Julia about the terms of the deal. In her words, he was "just like an excited little boy" as he told her the news. (V. 8 pp. 370; R.E. p. 52)

Schilling formed defendant SW Gaming, LLC to undertake this project. He and a business associate, Jeff Wellemeyer, were the initial owners of the units of SW Gaming. Neither paid anything for these units. (V. 8 p. 305; R.E. p. 53) Wellemeyer later dropped out of the project.

Lanny Holbrook next became an investor, purchasing twenty-five percent of the company for \$1.5 million in August, 2004. (V. 8 p. 349; R.E. p. 54)

As work got underway on this project, Schilling did nothing to cause Bozier to question whether he would be an owner of the casino. A newspaper article approved by

² Both Schilling and Bozier testified they were friends. (V. 6 p.45; V. 8 p.336; R.E. p. 51; 96)

Schilling referred to Bozier as a "partner." (V. 6 p. 135-136; R.E. p. 55-56) Similarly, the numerous business plans referred to Bozier as a "principal" in the casino. (V. 7 pp. 176-177); R.E. pp. 57-58; Exhibits 108, 109; R.E. 59-76; 77-95)

It eventually took longer than anticipated to bring the project to fruition. One of the barges that was planned for use sank, but was replaced by Schilling with two additional barges. (V. 8 p. 357-361; R.E. p. 97-101) On May 1, 2004, Bozier took a temporary job at a casino in Colorado in order to get some income, although he continued spending time on the casino project as well. (V. 6 pp. 105-107; R.E. p. 102-104) He repeatedly requested that his April, 2003, agreement with Schilling be reduced to writing. In November, 2004, he called Schilling to inquire about the status of a written agreement. Schilling continued to put Bozier off, instructing him to deal with Lanny Holbrook. In response, Bozier wrote a letter to Holbrook, outlining the terms of his earlier oral agreement with Schilling, under which, at that time, he had been performing for approximately one and one-half years. (V. 6 p. 102, 103; R.E. p. 105-106; Exhibit P-63; R.E. p. 107-108)

Holbrook, in turn, directed Bozier to Mike Lanahan, the company's CPA, telling Bozier that Lanahan would draw up the contract. (V.7 p.198; R.E. p. 109; Exhibit 64) At that time, neither Schilling, Holbrook nor Lanahan took any exception to any portion of Bozier's letter, including his outline of the agreement that he and Schilling had reached in April, 2003. Bozier continued to work on the project as before. He also continued to request a meeting with Lanahan to formalize the agreement, but Lanahan continued to put off any meeting concerning that subject. In fact, it was not until July, 2005 that this meeting occurred. (V.6 p. 107-109; R.E. p. 11-113) Bozier had flown to Cincinnati, Ohio,

to work with Lanahan on various items regarding the project. (V. 6 p. 109; R.E. p. 113) On July 27, 2005, he met with Lanahan concerning his agreement. (V. 6 p. 109; R.E. p. 113) It was at this meeting that Lanahan told Bozier that he would not be receiving any stock, because it had all been sold to raise money for the project. (V. 6 p. 108-109; R.E. p. 112-113) Bozier, who had by this time been working on the project for over three years, was outraged but, feeling that he had no choice, he continued to work. (V. 6 p. 109; R.E. p. 113)

In October, 2005, Bozier had a conference call with Schilling and Holbrook in which they informed him that (contrary to the prior agreement) they had hired another individual to be the general manager of the casino. (V. 6 p. 112-113; R.E. p. 114-115) Following this conversation, Bozier, fearing that Schilling and the company had no intention of honoring the April, 2003, agreement, went to an electronics store and bought a recorder for his telephone. (V. 6 p. 113; R.E. p. 115) On November 2, 2005, Bozier received a letter from the company offering him a position inferior to that agreed upon, at half the salary previously agreed upon. This offer was conditioned upon Bozier's relinquishing any claim to any of the company's stock. (Exhibit P-98; V. 6 p. 112; R.E. p. 116-117)

As the parties' relationship deteriorated, Bozier had several telephone conversations with Schilling, each of which – believing that Schilling was not going to honor the parties' agreement – Bozier recorded.

In these conversations, the following exchanges occurred:

November 7, 2005 conversation (V. 8 p. 347; R.E. p. 118; Exhibit 116; R.E. p. 119-135):

Page 8:

Bozier (B) I brought this deal to you It was your deal. . . . I gave the deal to you. . . . I gave it to you. . . . I told you what I wanted out of it. . . . I said I want a little bit of the stock.

Schilling (S) You don't realize how many things have gone on in this deal. . . . The boat sank. . . . I had no (inaudible) . . . I had to buy what's his name (inaudible) . . .

Bozier (B) That was a [expletive deleted] Godsend, that boat sinking.

Schilling (S) I had to buy Wellemeyer out ... I had to buy ... (inaudible)

Both talking together ...

Page 9:

(B) You were stupid there. . . . Really stupid. . . . The guy wasn't going to contribute a [expletive deleted] thing and you just gave him half the stock. . . . My little ten percent you say . . . oh well, I've had to give away this I've had to give away that you give that [expletive deleted] idiot half of the [expletive deleted] joint without even thinking.

(S) Well, I never thought I was gonna get involved in it this much to tell you the truth.

(B) You know it's never been in question it's never been in question that I was going to get stock in this deal. . . . Never . . . from day one. . . . Where's my stock?

(S) Never thought I'd get stuck in the deal this far.

(B) But where's my stock, Rick? . . . I ain't got any. . . . You know . . . what you did, Rick, . . . we had this conversation before you talked to Wellemeyer before you talked to Lanny before you talked to a living human you knew what the deal was. . . . So . . . you know . . . don't come back to me and tell me you gave it away. . . . It wasn't yours to give away. . . . It was mine, Rick.

(S) Well George, you know I've got all my money stuck in this deal I have no more money to put into it. . . . I got to make it work.

....

Page 10:

(B) But always you said always you said there was never a question . . . you're going to be running this joint.

(S) Well . . . that . . . that question changed.

....

Page 11:

(B) You said I was going to get stock in it. You ain't given me any stock in it. You said I was going to run the joint. I ain't running the joint.

(S) (Inaudible) . . . Everything changed. . . .

....

Pages 11-12

(B) No, but Rick, . . . you know . . . we started off with ten percent . . . if you'd said to me . . . you know, . . . I've got to give up with this and that . . . you know . . . and I'm getting . . . I'm getting tight . . . you know, and offered me something else . . . you know . . .

(S) I didn't realize I was going to have to give up as much as I gave up.

....

Page 13:

(S) I would have never got in it, George, if I'd know I was gonna do this. . . . I wouldn't . . .

(B) Well, I'd have never brought it to you if I thought you were going to do this to me.

(S) I had no intention to do anything to you. . . . And I still don't have any intentions. . . .

(B) Well, whatever your intentions are . . . you know . . . the reality of it is, Rick, I got nothing.

(S) Well you're just gonna have to wait and see what I can do.

(B) How long am I going to have to wait, Rick?

(S) Until I make some money, George, . . . until I make some money . . . if I get . . . if I make any money . . . you just have to go watch the first time I make money . . . (inaudible) . . .

(B) No, that don't stop you from giving me some of your stock.

(S) If I make money just watch and see what I'm gonna do. . . . That's the only thing I can tell you. . . . If you don't like what I do, quit right then and there. . . .

(B) Well, you know, I don't think it's a question of quitting Rick . . . it's a question of whether I do this deal. . . .

(S) I'm just telling you I'll make it right.

December 2, 2005 conversation (Exhibit 117) (R.E. p. 136-148):

Pages 3-4

(B) It seems that every time . . . it seems that every time that . . . you know . . . we talk about this deal . . . my . . . my . . . my personal deal goes further in the tank.

(S) No it isn't George. . . . Quit saying that.

(B) Well . . . that's . . . that's what it looks like, Rick.

(S) It isn't.

.....

Page 11:

(B) Well . . . it matters to me in that I'm supposed to get ten percent.

(S) Yeah . . . you know . . . this is my money I'm putting up. . . . I wasn't supposed to put up any money.

At trial, Schilling denied that there was any agreement between the parties regarding ownership of stock and argued, essentially, that Bozier was a "volunteer" – that he had worked for nothing for approximately three years in the hope of a manager's position once the casino opened. (V. 8 p. 338-339; R.E. 149-150)

Following the trial, and the parties' submission of Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, the trial court issued its Opinion.³ The court noted that Schilling had denied that he and Bozier had an oral contract. However, the court expressly found otherwise – there was an agreement, Schilling's denials notwithstanding. The court found that the agreement included opening a casino in Greenville utilizing two barges owned by Schilling. The casino would be placed at the specific bridge site identified by Bozier. Bozier would manage the casino at an annual salary of \$200,000.00 and, in addition, Bozier would receive an undiluted ten percent interest in the casino. The court found that the cost of the project would be "in the neighborhood of \$20 million." (V. 5, pp. 10-11; V. 5, pp. 549, 550; R.E. p. 10-11) The lower court also found that there were several other "terms" in the agreement, including that in order to receive his ten percent interest in the casino, Bozier was required to obtain investors. There is simply no support for that statement in the record – Bozier did not testify that the agreement

³ This Opinion is found at V. 5, p. 540-566 and R.E. 1-26.

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