IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

No. 2009-CA-00841

GEORGE M. BOZIER

APPELLANT/CROSS-APPELLEE

VS.

RICHARD J. SCHILLING, JR. AND SW GAMING LLC

APPELLEES/CROSS-APPELLANTS

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF WASHINGTON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLEES/CROSS-APPELLANTS

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

Joseph L. Adams, MB # Debra M. Brown, MB W. Brett Harvey, MB PHELPS DUNBAR LLP 111 East Capitol Street, Suite 600 Jackson, Mississippi 39201-2122 P. O. Box 23066 Jackson, Mississippi 39225-3066 Telephone: (601) 352-2300 Telecopier: (601) 360-9777

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEES/ CROSS-APPELLANTS

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

In sum, Schilling testified that "[n]one of us ever thought it would take four to five years. All of us thought we could put the boats in. Then we had trouble with the boat sinking. I put it into Superior Shipyard and they sank the casino boat. That's what caused all the problems. I never dreamt that if I pushed the boat into a shipyard, a shipyard would sink my boat." 8:340. "[T]hat's how the whole problem started. We lost the casino [barge]." *Id*.

The chancellor rejected Bozier's claims because the parties conditioned their oral agreement on the use of the fully equipped Splash casino barge. They did so to eliminate mooring costs and to keep down the cost of opening the casino. Ample evidence supports this finding, only a sampling of which is listed above. The chancellor's judgment must be affirmed.

B. The chancellor's denial of Bozier's claims is not dependent upon the impossibility doctrine.

As the above makes clear, the chancellor's denial of Bozier's tort claims is not dependent upon the impossibility doctrine. Bozier, however, seems to confuse the impossibility doctrine with the factual question of what Schilling and Bozier actually agreed to. For instance, in a section purporting to address impossibility, Bozier incorrectly argues that the parties put no "stipulations" or "conditions" upon the oral agreement. *See* Bozier Br. at 25.

Deliberately or not, Bozier is conflating two distinct legal concepts. "Conditions" imposed *by contracting parties themselves* have nothing to do with the impossibility doctrine, or vice versa. Bozier's misunderstanding warrants clarification.

The impossibility doctrine permits a court to declare a contractual obligation null. *See, e.g., Hendrick*, 618 So.2d at 79. To be clear, the basis for this nullification *is not* the understanding of the parties to the contract, but rather the common law, which affirmatively intervenes to excuse performance. *See id*, citing *Littleton v. Employees Fire Ins. Co.*, 453 P.2d 810 (Colo. 1969) (impossibility applies only where events are "vitally different" from what "should reasonably have been within the contemplation of both parties). In other words, the impossibility doctrine imposes conditions that the parties *did not impose on themselves. See id.*; *see also Ferguson v. City of Orofino*, 953 P.2d 630, 633 (Idaho 1998) (impossibility applies only where "bargained-for performance is no longer in existence or is no longer capable of being performed due to the unforeseen" event).

But impossibility is not the only way future events may excuse performance. The parties themselves may agree to make performance contingent upon the happening of some event. Courts often call this a "condition precedent." *See, e.g., Piaggio v. Somerville*, 80 So. 342, 344 (Miss. 1919).⁸ But no special label is required; the court need only find as fact that the parties agreed that the happening of the event is a term of their contract. *See, e.g., Smith v. Redd*, 593 So.2d 989,

⁸ Piaggio is the featured case in Bozier's brief. It directly undermines his argument. In *Piaggio*, this Court first considered whether the parties had agreed that a schooner's clearance of the Mobile port was a "condition precedent" of their deal. 80 So. at 344. Only after it had determined that the parties themselves had no such agreement did it turn to the issue of impossibility. *See id.* Thus, as early as 1919, this Court understood what Bozier fails to understand: that "impossibility" of performance is entirely irrelevant if the parties condition their deal on the occurrence of an event.

992-94 (Miss. 1991) (condition precedent established by unwritten understanding that events had to precede performance). That is exactly what the chancellor did here. *See, e.g.,* 5:551 (the "project as contemplated between" Bozier and Schilling was "opening a casino using Schilling's casino barge").

When parties choose to condition their contracts on the happening of an event, it does not matter one iota whether the non-occurrence of the event renders performance legally "impossible." *See, e.g., Piaggio*, 80 So. at 344. Parties are masters of their own contracts. *See, e.g., Rotenberry v. Hooker*, 864 So.2d 266, 278-79 (Miss. 2003). They are free to set cost limits, time limits, performance minimums and other conditions without any regard to what is possible or impossible. *See, e.g., Gunn v. Heggins*, 964 So.2d 586, 590 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007) (loan conditioned on clear title).

Here, the chancellor held that one condition of Bozier's and Schilling's agreement was the availability of the Splash casino barge. 5:543-45, 551.⁹ This finding provides sufficient ground to reject all the claims Bozier raises on appeal, including the non-existent "oral contract" claim. It is not a finding of legal

⁹ Bozier argues that Schilling did not expressly "stipulate" that this was a condition. See Bozier Br. at 25. But here again, he misses the point. The agreement was a "fast and loose oral agreement." 5:559. Neither party expressly stipulated much of anything. But where parties are not clear as to the terms of their agreement, the trial court is nonetheless charged with making factual findings about what those terms are. See, e.g., Simmons v. Jaggers, 914 So.2d 693 (Miss. 2005); Jones v. McGahey, 191 So.2d 532, 534 (Miss. 1996). That is precisely what the chancellor did here. Bozier cannot enter a handshake agreement, then insist that a court find all its terms are favorable to him because neither party put anything in writing. Indeed, Schilling might just as well argue that Bozier did not "stipulate" that there could be no unilateral cancellation of the deal prior to construction.

impossibility, nor does it need to be.¹⁰ The chancellor threw in impossibility for good measure, but it was unnecessary: her factual findings about the conditions put on the agreement by *the parties themselves* do all the necessary work.

So once again, attacking the impossibility doctrine gets Bozier nowhere.

III. Bozier Waived Any Challenge To The Chancellor's Application Of The Impossibility Doctrine.

In addition, Bozier's challenge to the chancellor's application of the impossibility doctrine has been waived. Bozier filed multiple post-trial motions challenging the chancellor's Final Judgment, but never once objected to the application of impossibility. He thereby waived any challenge on appeal.

It is settled law that "[a] trial judge will not be put in error on a matter which was not presented to him for his decision." *Parker v. Mississippi Game & Fish Comm'n*, 555 So.2d 725, 730 (Miss. 1989). Normally, a party does not have to raise an objection in post-trial pleadings, since the issues were raised at trial. But where an issue arises for the first time in a chancellor's judgment, a party wishing to dispute it must file a post-judgment challenge. If he fails to do so, the objection is waived on appeal.

The Supreme Court addressed this exact issue in City of Jackson v. Internal Engine Parts Group, Inc., 903 So.2d 60 (Miss. 2005). There, the City of Jackson

¹⁰ Bozier's citation-free assertion that the chancellor found "Schilling assumed the duty to provide his barge to the casino project," is flatly wrong. The chancellor found no such thing. She found that the agreement was contingent upon the use of the barges, but made it abundantly clear Schilling never agreed to bear the risk of any loss; if the barge was lost, the deal simply died. 5:560 ("The sinking of the barge marked the end of the Bali Hai casino project.").

filed a post-trial motion to amend a final judgment, contending the trial court's final judgment relied on statutory provisions that no longer applied. *Id.* at 66. The Supreme Court held the argument was waived. It reasoned that:

The City's [post-trial] motion did not assert that the judgment referenced law that was no longer applicable and did not raise any issues under § 11-46-9(1)(v) or § 11-46-3. The City *did not present this issue to the trial court in its motion for amendment or for new trial*. Having failed to preserve the issue, the City of Jackson is barred from raising it now on appeal,

Id. (emphasis added), citing Materials Transp. Co. v. Newman, 656 So.2d 1199, 1203 (Miss. 1995); see also Fitch v. Valentine, 959 So.2d 1012, 1027-28 (Miss. 2007) (challenge to punitive damage award waived because defendant "did not seek remittance . . . in post trial motions").

Here, the waiver is even more clear-cut than in *City of Jackson*. Bozier filed a Motion for More Definite Final Judgment, 8:570-71, and a Motion for New Trial, 8:567-69. Unlike the appellant in *City of Jackson*, who at least made a vague reference to the alleged legal error in its post-trial motion, Bozier never mentioned the impossibility doctrine in any of his post-trial filings. Indeed, Bozier admits in his appellate brief that he never "addressed the issue of impossibility of performance" in his "post-trial submissions." Bozier Br. at 22.

Bozier had the opportunity to present the impossibility issue to the chancellor for review. He failed to do so, and cannot raise the issue for the first time on appeal.

IV. If A Contractual Claim Had Been Raised, It Would Be Barred By Impossibility And The Statute Of Frauds.

A. The impossibility doctrine would bar any contractual claim Bozier raised.

By this point, it is clear that the impossibility doctrine was of little or no importance to the result below. In an abundance of caution, however, Schilling will show that Bozier's misguided attacks on impossibility also fail on their merits.

1. Schilling did not "waive" the impossibility defense.

First, Bozier contends that Schilling waived an impossibility defense by failing to plead it or raise it at trial. Obviously, that is wrong. Impossibility is a defense to a breach of contract claim. *See, e.g., Hendrick*, 618 So.2d at 78-79. Bozier never pled a breach of contract claim, and his lawyer expressly disavowed any such claim at trial. 6:20. To state the obvious, a defendant cannot "waive" a defense to a claim that was never pled or raised.

In the alternative—and again, assuming counterfactually that a contract claim was raised—Bozier tried the impossibility defense by consent. Under Mississippi law, an affirmative defense is waived only if it is "neither pleaded nor tried by consent." *Goode v. Village of Woodgreen Homeowners*, 662 So.2d 1064, 1077 (Miss. 1995), *see also Ashburn v. Ashburn*, 970 So.2d 204, 212 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007). Rule 15(b) of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure provides that "[w]hen issues not raised by the pleadings are tried by expressed or implied consent of the parties, they shall be treated in all respects as if they had been raised in the pleadings." MISS. R. Crv. P. 15(b).

In short, Rule 15(b) prevents plaintiffs from attacking affirmative defenses for the first time on appeal, as Bozier attempts to do here.

A plaintiff implicitly consents to trial of an affirmative defense where evidence supporting the defense is introduced at trial, and the plaintiff fails to object. *See, e.g., Lahmann v. Hallmon*, 722 So.2d 614, 619 (Miss. 1998). This Court has "adopted a very liberal view" of the implied consent rule. *Id.*, citing *Queen v. Queen*, 551 So.2d 197, 202 (Miss. 1989). Thus, "if evidence is offered by a party which is outside the scope of the pleadings and the other party fails to object, the opponent will be considered to have impliedly consented to the issue." *Lahmann*, 722 So.2d at 619.¹¹

As the testimony above in Part II.A shows, Schilling indisputably introduced evidence that the Splash casino barge was an essential condition of the oral agreement between Bozier and Schilling. It does not matter that Schilling never used the legal term "impossibility," since Rule 15(b) looks to the facts introduced by the parties, not the labels applied to them. *See, e.g., Covington v. Griffin*, 19

¹¹ The implied consent rule does not require the defendant's answer to be "formally amend[ed] to conform with the evidence." *Id.*; see also MISS. R. CIV. P. 15(b). Nor does it require use of precise legal terminology—like, "the impossibility doctrine"—to describe the defense. See, e.g., Covington v. Griffin, 19 So.3d 805, 816-17 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009) (unconscionability defense tried by consent where defendant presented evidence that "there was no meeting of the minds").

So.3d 805, 816-17 (Miss. Ct. App. 2009) (defendant never pled contract defense of unconscionability, but tried it by consent by raising evidence "concerning unconscionability at trial"). Bozier never objected to any of this evidence.

In sum, neither a contract claim nor an impossibility defense was ever raised below. But if this Court were to give Bozier the benefit of an unpled, untried contract claim, Schilling must likewise get the benefit of an unpled "impossibility" defense, since Bozier never objected to evidence supporting it. That is only fair.

2. Bozier failed to introduce evidence that Schilling was at fault for the sinking.

Bozier contends that Schilling has the burden of proving he was not at fault for the sinking of the casino barge. *See* Bozier Br. at 28-29. Again, the idea that Schilling had *any* burden with respect to the impossibility doctrine requires an incorrect conclusion that Bozier actually raised a contract claim. But assuming as much, Bozier is wrong about the burden of proof.

Bozier says Schilling must "prove that he is not at fault for the destruction of" the barge. Bozier Br. at 26. Bozier fails to cite authority for this strange proposition because there is none. No Mississippi court has ever held that a defendant must prove a negative—i.e., that it is "not at fault"—for the impossibility doctrine to apply.

Indeed, only a handful of courts have ever addressed this question. All of them, however, have held that the proponent of the impossibility defense does not

bear the burden of showing the loss was not his fault. See, e.g., Newman v. United Fruit Co., 141 F.2d 191, 193 (2d Cir. 1944), citing Joseph Constantine S. S. Line, Ltd. v Imperial Smelting Corp., 2 All Eng. 165 (1942).

Although he did not have to, Schilling indisputably *did* submit evidence the sinking was not his fault. He testified that he put the barge "into Superior Shipyard and they sank the casino boat. That's what caused all the problems. I never dreamt that if I pushed the boat into a shipyard, a shipyard would sink my boat." 8:340. *Bozier introduced no evidence to refute this.*

Bozier now seeks to introduce new evidence on appeal to rebut Schilling's testimony, but it is far too late. He attaches as an exhibit to his brief a federal court opinion finding Schilling Enterprises, in which Schilling owned an interest, 25% at fault for the barge's sinking under federal maritime laws, due to conduct by an employee.

As a preliminary point, Bozier offers no authority for the proposition that the entity employee's conduct can be imputed to him for purposes of the impossibility defense. And plainly, there is no basis for imputing such liability to co-defendant SW Gaming LLC, which is not wholly-owned by Schilling.

But far more importantly, Bozier's attorney *never introduced this opinion as evidence at trial*. To state the obvious, "new evidence cannot be offered on appeal." *Foreman v. State*, 830 So.2d 1278, 1281 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002). The federal court opinion is submitted here as new factual evidence of fault, not as

legal authority. But regardless, Bozier never gave the chancellor an opportunity to consider it, so it cannot be grounds for finding error. *See, e.g., Parker*, 555 So.2d at 730 (Miss. 1989); *Grenada Living Ctr., LLC v. Coleman*, 961 So.2d 33, 38 (Miss. 2007) (legal arguments not presented to trial court are waived).

In sum, the chancellor heard evidence that Schilling was not at fault for the barge's sinking. Bozier failed to respond at trial or in his post-trial motions. If impossibility had been an issue, there would be no basis to reverse its application on appeal.

3. Bozier failed to raise collateral estoppel in the trial court.

Finally, Bozier argues that Schilling is collaterally estopped from arguing he was not at fault for the sinking. *See* Bozier Br. at 31-32. The argument is likewise procedurally barred. Collateral estoppel is a defense that must be raised in the trial court, or it is waived on appeal. *See, e.g., State ex rel. Moore v. Molpus*, 578 So.2d 624, 640-641 (Miss. 1991) (failure to timely assert collateral estoppel waives the issue for appeal). Bozier never argued collateral estoppel in the trial court, and cannot raise for the first time here.

B. Bozier's claims are barred by the statute of frauds.

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